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JAMES L. GARVIN
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This report is based on observations made at tkie \BHage Bridge on September 16, 2008. The
inspection was made as part of a broader bridgei@van by Sean James and Josif Bicja of
Hoyle, Tanner & Associates, consulting engineessiséed by crew members from Wright
Constriction Company of Mount Holly, Vermont. Therpose of the Hoyle, Tanner inspection
was to provide an update to their submitted in IA0D6. The purpose of the Division of
Historical Resources’ inspection was to determimeedondition, integrity, and evolution of the
bridge in order to be prepared to apply Sexretary of the Interior’s Standards for the Treant

of Historic Propertiesn any future review of proposals for treatmentra bridge.

Brief chronology of the Bath Village Bridge, takom Joseph D. Conwill, “Historic American
Engineering Record, Bath Bridge, HAER No. NH-34ttdahed as Appendix 2):

1831 Work begins on stonework for the presenth(fibridge

1832 The covered bridge is completed

1852-53 White Mountain Railroad is constructedemttie west end of the bridge

? An extra pier is added under the long west spaning the three-span bridge into a four-span
bridge

1913 New Hampshire law requires bridges to kgraged for 10-ton load

1918-19 Bridge is raised about 2’, laminated ascre added, other major repairs done

1987-88Restoration by Milton S. Graton

Original truss and arch elements



The Bath Village Bridge is composed of three ordjispans of widely varying lengths. The
bridge has apparently not been measured alongriteidine, and the different angles of the
abutments and the piers causes the upstream andstteam trusses in each span to display
differing lengths. The HAER report mentioned abgixes the total truss length of Bath Village
Bridge as 374’-5%4” at the floor. The length of #eest span is 127'-2%" on the upstream side.
The center span is 71’-10” in length, while thedamriginal west span (now subdivided by an
added pier at its center) was 175-5%" long.

Span 3B | Span 3A
Pier 3 Pier 2
Span 3 Span 2 Spanl
175-5v%" 71'-10” 127-2Y4"
le Western abutment Eastern abutment |

The bridge is well documented as having been coctst in 1832, and is therefore among the
oldest surviving covered bridges in the United &atDespite its age and the fact that it is
exposed to airborne spray during parts of each yle@ustructure retains a high percentage of its
original truss and arch elements. These elemamtde distinguished from later materials by the
fact that they were sawn on a reciprocating (“ug-down”) sawmill, of which there were several
along the Ammonoosuc River from the late 1700s.

According to an appendix in the Hoyle, Tanner “Egring Study for the Bath ‘Village’ Covered
Bridge” of 2006, a diagonal brace and a chord merabthe Bath Village Bridge were identified



as spruceRiceg), implying that most of the original structure waslt of spruce. This finding is

in contrast with the nearby Bath-Haverhill Towrtitz truss bridge (1829), where the principal
original members were identified as eastern white (Pinus strobus In both cases, the bridges
are located at seemingly unpropitious sites withash levels close to the floors of the bridges
above the adjacent dams, and with large amourdaslodrne spray whenever water spills over the
crests of these dams onto ledges below. Despite@nditions, the two neighboring bridges
have survived not only as two of the oldest covédnediges in the country, but as structures that
retain an unusually high amount of original fabric.

The posts and diagonal braces of the Bath Villagég® are sawn on all four sides. Except where
replaced, these members exhibit the parallel &inatand torn wood fibers that characterize early
mechanical sawing. These members also exhibgdahe irregularity in size that was observed at
the Bath-Haverhill Bridge; according to Joseph CillrsaHistoric American Engineering Record
(HAER) report, attached as an appendix, “postskaades show manufacturing variation, but on
average measure 4%" x 534"."

The integral arches that form important componehtke trusses in each of the three original
spans of the bridge were formed from heavy sawnkgslpinned together. Only two of the
original three arches can be seen; the relativedytsand low arch of the original middle span of
the bridge is hidden by the four-foot-high wood&rainscoting” that has been applied to the
lower third of the trusses inside the bridge. Tae snarks on the sides of the original arches
match those of the truss web members.

The arches have been hewn on their upper and EwvEaces to gentle segmental curves that, in
the case of the two longer original spans, brirgapex of each arch to the upper chord of the
truss. This hewing was done with great skill, pridg an even curve and smoothing the upper
and lower surfaces of the arches so carefullyttteaadze marks can hardly be seen. It is apparent
that the original planks from which these archesswewn must have been of great depth to
permit the curves to be laid out across their fasebsto provide for the fourteen inch depth of

each arch after the excess wood was hewn away.

Original sheathing

All of the side boarding or sheathing on the dowaesh (south) side of the bridge is new, having
been replaced in the rehabilitation of 1987-88.

On the upstream or north side of the bridge, sredtérom strong sunlight, a certain percentage of
sheathing boards appear to be original, or at igast sawn on a reciprocating sawmill. No
attempt was made to survey the entire north sideeobridge, but every effort should be made to
identify and preserve any surviving early boar@her boards on this side of the bridge display
circular saw marks, yet are also old and have aedkéhrough oxidation. Still others are clearly
much newer.

Original and later bridge piers
One principal effort of this examination was toifsethe statement, made in Joseph Conwill’'s

HAER report and elsewhere, that “the addition tfied pier divided the long west span of Bath
Bridge [labeled as Span 3 on the photograph akiat@}wo, making it a four-span bridge. There



is no evidence documenting when this was doneit leas probably during the nineteenth century
since the new pier is dry-laid stone and diffi¢oldistinguish from the two originals.”

Particular attention was paid to the splitting nsairkthe granite of the two easternmost piers and
the later western pier. A chronology of splittimgirks has been developed that differentiates
between splitting methods used before and afteadiB30 (see Appendix 1). Since the Bath
Village Bridge dates from 1832, with the stonewbakving been begun the year before, the
substructure dates from the precise time whenngitran in granite splitting technology was
taking place in New Hampshire. The changes thatrmed around 1830 should verify that Piers 1
and 2 are original and of the 1830 period, and Bt 3 is later.

The fact that flat-wedge granite splitting wasl &iding used in Bath in 1831, the year in which the
two original piers were built, is verified by theillam Vance Hutchins House, a granite dwelling
of 1831 that stands a short distance from the bridgs seen above the doorway and window in
the photograph below, the walls of this buildingasly show evidence of flat-wedge splitting.
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The same splitting technique is clearly visibldath Pier 1 and Pier 2 of the Bath Village Bridge.



Detail of east face of Pier 2, Bath Village Bridge

By contrast, Pier 3 has fewer large split stonas fRiers 1 and 2:

East face of Pier 3, Bath Village Bridge



While Pier 3 shows less evidence of splitting teghes, one of the lowest stones in this pier,
clearly original, displays the marks of the pluglddenoting its later date:

1]

South face of Pier 3, Bath Village Bridge

Although stone splitting evidence confirms the ldredd belief that Pier 3 was added beneath the
center of Span 3 after completion of the bridgss pinysical evidence cannot suggest how much
later the pier was added. Because the flat-wedgbad of splitting granite was supplanted by the
plug-and-feathers method soon after the bridgebwds Pier 3 could date anywhere from a few
years after completion of the span up to around;1@hen concrete supplanted stone masonry for
most work. Although the stonework of Pier 3 is twode to suggest railroad construction of the
latter nineteenth century, it is possible that fhes was added to the bridge when tracks first
passed under the bridge in 1852-3. It is possitdethis pier was not originally built to the hieig

of the others, but that it supported a woodenl&é¢kat extended up to the bottom chords of the
bridge.

Visible repairs and current floor system

Bath Village Bridge reveals evidence of a numberephirs, many of them apparently predating
the Graton rehabilitation. Some of these repagsaliuded to in Joseph Conwill’'s Historic
American Engineering Record report (attached asppendix). Regrettably, many repairs are
probably masked by the replacement in 1996 of thedaboard “wainscoting” that had been
removed from the bridge in 1987-88.



A number of tie beams linking the upper chordsheflbridge were spliced, evidently in the Graton
rehabilitation of 1987-88. A few were wholly repéal. The new work can be differentiated from
the old by the color of the wood and by the faet tine replacement wood is circular sawn in
contrast to the original members. Presumablyirtbgection and evaluation carried out on
September 15-17 by Hoyle, Tanner & Associatesaviimerate all these earlier repairs and
replacements in detail.

The existing floor beams in the bridge are of cdesable interest in light of a proposal to raise th
live load rating of the bridge from the current &xs to ten tons. Hoyle, Tanner engineers
propose to accomplish this upgrade (if it is appiblay the town) mainly by replacing the existing
floor beams with beams of greater structural cdpaci

In applying theSecretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehadtliin to this proposal, it will be
crucial to evaluate the number of original or eanlgmbers in the existing floor system.

Inspection of the floor on September 16, 2008, hvaed to what could be seen from the ground
on the west end of the bridge or from the ledgebktha top of the dam in the middle of the bridge.
With no boat or floating staging then available,imgpection of the floor at the eastern span of the
bridge was possible.

Observations made from the available vantage psumggest that all of the floor beams now in the
bridge are of recent date. Some existing beamsaaip predate the rehabilitation of 1987-88.
Those beams that were found to be sound in 198&fB8ar to have been turned over to allow
new floor planking to be nailed into the sound wadbdvhat had been the bottoms of the beams.

The majority of beams now seen in the bridge, h@reappear to have been installed in 1987-88
above older needle beams and lower lateral bracing:



The new floor beams of 1987-88 appear to have baed-sawn on their sides, and cut to depth
on a circular sawmill, leaving curved saw markgtogir soffits, as seen below:

Bottom: re-used floor beam. Middle and top: band-awn floor beams sawn to depth on a
circular saw



Further discussion of future treatments of the Batlage Bridge must take into consideration the
age and condition of the current floor system ak agethe loading requirements for the bridge,
the budget available for rehabilitation, and otfaetors. This report is intended to record initial
observations made during an inspection of less &hday. If work of an extensive nature is
proposed for this bridge, further detailed studyhef fabric of the structure will be required in
order to place engineers’ recommendations withénctbntext of the historical integrity of the
structure.

The Bath Village Bridge is one of the oldest codebedges remaining in the United States. Itis
also unique in design, perhaps representing, &plidSonwill has suggested, “the last remnants
of an old regional building tradition.” For theseasons, the bridge requires the most detailed
examination and the most thoughtful analysis of @egtments that may be proposed in the
future.
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GRANITE SPLITTING TOOLS AND TECHNIQUES

By about 1800, stonecutters in many parts of Negl&d had perfected the basic techniques of
finishing and shaping granite. These craftsmerewet only able to split large slabs and posts
from boulders, but had also learned to use hamaratshisels to shape the stone to a wide
variety of forms, including steps, thresholds, sutimtels, columns, watering troughs, and
rainwater basins.

In the years just before 1830, a new granite ggjittnethod was introduced. Each method of
splitting granite leaves distinctive marks at tdge of the stone, and these marks reveal whether
a given piece of granite was quarried or split befar after about 1830—useful knowledge in
dating a building or a stone object.

Prior to about 1830, the procedure for splittingrgte entailed the cutting of a line of shallow
slots in the face of the stone, using a tool cadl@ape chisel, struck with a heavy hammer.
Small, flat steel wedges were placed between sbfrakeet iron and driven into these slots,
splitting the stone. The new splitting method ioé& 1830 used a “plug drill,” which had a V-
shaped point and was rotated slightly between bkt of the hammer, creating a round hole
two or three inches deep.

\J

Into this hole were placed a pair of half-

T round steel shims or “feathers,” and between
these was driven a wedge or “plug” which
exerted outward pressure and split the stone.

The advantage of the “plug-and-feathers”
method of splitting was the greater depth
within the stone at which the wedges exerted
their pressure, thus allowing larger pieces to
be split more accurately.

\V
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The new splitting technology seems to have spratir rapidly through the granite quarrying
centers of New England, although one is likelyital fevidence of both old and new methods
being used concurrently in stonework of the 1888pgcially in rural areas. The technique
employed on a given stone can usually be seeneosgpllit face, and provides some aid in dating
granite masonry. The old, flat-wedge method iskediby a series of slot-like depressions
which extend inward an inch or so from the edgethefsplit stone. The plug-and-feathers
method leaves a row of rounded holes, two or thvelees deep and usually about six inches
apart.

When seen on the surface of a stone that was e par splitting but never split, these slots or
holes appear as shown below:

The use of the plug drill in combination with thieigr-and-feathers provided greater force and
control in splitting granite. Until the introduoti of the new technique, most granite for
buildings and posts was split from surface bouldeas had been strewn across the New England
landscape at the retreat of the glaciers. Suctedtad been transported by the ice from many
points of origin, and each boulder challenged thaeecutter with different grain and behavior
when split.

The introduction of the plug drill and plug-and4eears seems to have enhanced stonecutters’
ability to quarry granite from ledges. Ledge staras more uniform in nature and predictable in
behavior than granite split from surface bouldeiéith the opening of early quarries at ledges in
Quincy, Chelmsford, and Rockport, Massachusettec@al, New Hampshire; and many
locations in Maine, Vermont, and Rhode Island, Nlewgland began to assume its prominent
place in the American and international graniteustoy.

James L. Garvin
State Architectural Historian
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HISTORIC AMERICAN ENGINEERING RECORD

BATH BRIDGE

HAER No. NH-34

Spanning Ammonoosuc River, Lisbon RoadiiB Grafton County, New
Hampshire
UTM: 19:262766.4894683 Moosilauke, NH Quad

1832

Modified Burr truss

Unknown

PRESENT OWNER: Town of Bath

PREVIOUS &

PRESENT USE:

SIGNIFICANCE:

HISTORIAN:

PROJECT

INFORMATION:

Public road bridge since its consact

Bath Bridge is a rare survivor of tearly craftsman tradition of wooden
truss bridge construction, before design becammatdized into several
major types based on patented plans. It is alsst@fest for its location in
the midst of a well-preserved village center.

Joseph D. Conwill, Editoovered Bridge Topi¢gduly 2002

The National Covered Bridge RecordiRgpject is part of the Historic
American Engineering Records (HAER), a long-rangemam to
document historically significant engineering andustrial works in the
United States. HAER is administered by the Histdumerican Buildings
Survey/Historic American Engineering Record, aslomn of the National
Park Service, U. S. Department of the Interior.e Hederal Highway
Administration funded this project.



Chronology

1794

1831

1832

1852-53

?

1913

1918-19

1987-88

BATH BRIDGE
HAER No. NH-34
(Page 15)

First bridge at Bath Village

Work begins on stonework for the presenth{fibridge

The covered bridge is completed

White Mountain Railroad is constructed uride west end of the bridge

An extra pier is added under the long west sjpaining the three-span
bridge into a four-span bridge

New Hampshire law requires bridges to lgragbed for 10-ton load

Bridge is raised about 2’, laminated ascre added, other major repairs
done

Restoration by Milton S. Graton



BATH BRIDGE
HAER No. NH-34
(Page 16)

Bath and Its Early Bridges

Bath, New Hampshire, was already a small industeaker in the 1790s before there was
any bridge. The town voted in November 1793 tddmithe Ammonoosuc River “over
the mill-pond above Mr. Sargent’s and Esqg. Hurdiksmi Built in 1794, the cost was

still given in the British system as 110 poundsltovhich equaled $366.661t lasted

until taken out by an ice jam, but the town voted 806 to replace it, and this time the
cost was quoted in American dollars at $1,008.third bridge, built in 1820, was

washed out in February 1824 and again replacedl8RY, repairs were already needed,
and Caleb Hunt was selected to supervise the projde fate of this fourth bridge is
unknown®

Construction of the Present Bridge

A town meeting in March 1830 discussed rebuildimg bbridge at Bath Village, but
postponed action, probably because of expensemgusted during construction of the
Bath-Haverhill Bridge at Woodsville. In March 183he town meeting returned to the
question. Voters approved $1,400 to cover corgrfactstonework that apparently had
already been negotiated and decided to proceedcaititruction of the two abutments
and two center piers. George Wetherell was chasdown agent for the project, but
most regrettably there is no record anywhere obtlikler's name. The 1831 meeting
also resulted in a vote to procure timber and figtelivered to the site over the
upcoming winter. A special meeting later in tharyen November 16 voted $400 more
towards construction of the stonework; evidentlgstouction was already in progress
and the available funds had been used up.

The March 1832 meeting raised a final $1,500 tomete Bath Bridge, and this was
probably for the wooden trusswork. The total awas therefore around $3,300The
work seems to have been completed to satisfadiesguse the March 1833 town
meeting chose William V. Hutchins as agent “to pmsge all persons who shall violate
the law in crossing said Bridge, & to procure Bojgls] lettered and placed at the ends
of said Bridge giving notice of a fine for thoseawiolate the law in crossing.” A sign
on the west portal still warns of a ONE DOLAR FIND DRIVE ANY TEAM

FASTER THAN A WALK ON THIS BRIDGE. Such signs weséll common on New

! Rev. David Sutherlandyddress Delivered to the Inhabitants of Bathwith an Historical Appendix by
Rev. Thomas Boutel{8oston: Geo. C. Rand & Avery, 1855), pp. 72-73.

2 In some New England localities, money continuebeauoted in pounds, shillings, and pence even int
the early nineteenth century, although dollar datiooinage had been in circulation since 1794.

3 Brian R. Pfeiffer, the historian who prepared Maional Register nomination, which was approved in
1976, conjectures that fire destroyed the fourttidge because there was much discussion of fire ése
1830 town meeting. This may be true, but this auttoes not find the evidence compelling, espeaciall
since Sutherland makes no mention of a fire.

* Bath Town Records, Volume 4. The years 1827-188% consulted. Available at the New Hampshire
State Library, Concord, New Hampshire.

® Some writers have quoted a cost of $2,900, byt fissed the $400 expenditure voted on November 16,
1831.



BATH BRIDGE
HAER No. NH-34
(Page 17)

England covered bridges well into the twentiethtagn The “walk,” of course, refers to
a horse’s gait; a gallop or a trot sets up a regubaation capable of shaking truss bridge
members loose and causing serious damage.

In the nineteenth century, winter transportatiors Wwg sleigh or sled over frozen snow.
Roads were rolled to make them passable; snow pgpand removal did not begin until
the 1920s after automobiles arrived. Covered lesdgere obstacles in such a
transportation system. They were covered to kkepvboden trusses from rotting, not to
keep the snow off in the winter. Bath town meetimgutes of the 1830s show that the
highway surveyor (i.e., road commissioner) of tikage district had to oversee snow
being placed on the bridge deck in winter and @easff come spring.

Structural Details

The abutments and two original center piers of Eattige are of dry-laid stone, but their
orientation is odd. The two abutments are motdess square to the river, but the two
piers are both skewed. This makes the span ledliffesent from one side of the bridge
to the other and presented obvious challengesmifig the trusses. Moreover, the
original span lengths were very uneven; the twospiee spaced closely together in the
middle of the river. There is no obvious explaoatior this peculiarity. Perhaps
subsurface conditions for foundations dictatedpllaeement of the piers; or there may
have been some special problems regarding thedfdhe river’s current.

The total truss length of Bath Bridge measures-%#4" at the floor. Structure length of
the east span is 127’-2Y4” on the upstream side2 dblwnstream side was not measured,
but is two panels longer because of the skewed [pieym the position of the truss center
posts in relation to the highest point of the artls evident that the builder intended the
upstream truss to be the standard and the downstreas to be the deviation. The
center span is only 71’-10” in structure length jlevthe long original west span was
175’-5Y%". Here the downstream truss measures thaaels shorter, so this pier appears
to be more skewed than the other. Where the sbater span meets the long original
west span, the builder had trouble fitting his paeegths to the piers, so there is an odd
short panel.

Posts and braces show manufacturing variationpbuatverage measure 4%2” x 5%". The
braces do not foot on shoulders on the posts isdh® plane. Instead, they are
treenailed across the outside of the post framle avgingle 1%4” treenail at the joint and
no mortise. They overlap the panel points andinaaton to the chords, where they are
mortised through. The chords themselves are bpitif three vertical leaves, with posts
mortised through the inside joint and braces medtikirough the other. This framing

® Records from other New England towns describetsng’ covered bridges in winter, but there are no
known photographs of the operation in progresso Maine Highway Commission photographs from the
early 1920s do show covered bridge interiors withvg on the deck.



BATH BRIDGE
HAER No. NH-34
(Page 18)

detail is surprisingly similar to the counterbraEatment developed a decade later by
Peter Paddleford of nearby Littleton, but thereasevidence connecting him with Bath
Bridge.

Bath Bridge also has original timber arches intbgrth the trusses. Like the chords,

they are built up of three vertical leaves of timpkced together with no space; the posts
are mortised through the inside joint, and the é&saare mortised through the outside
joint. The arch ends are tied to the lower chamis do not foot directly on the
abutments. Such intricate joinery requires an atraathinkable amount of custom

labor.

Bath Bridge represents an early, idiosyncratictsmaén tradition of wooden truss bridge
building, before designs became more standardiaddrnthe influence of the major
patented truss plans. It is very difficult to dég. It is more like a Burr truss than
anything else, but the standard Burr does not b@/éraces overlapping the panel
points, and it usually has the arch footing dingoth the abutments. Because of the
overlapping braces, Bath Bridge slightly resembihesHaupt truss, but this was not
patented until 1839, and the 1832 date for Batldgriis very well established.

One other New England covered bridge shares the saiss plan, the Sayres Bridge
over Ompompanoosuc River at Thetford Center, Vetmdhe framing details are rather
similar, but the timber sizes are different, anel bhace/post joints are made with two
treenails, not one as at Bath. These two bridgeslme the last remnants of an old
regional building tradition, but neither date nailter is known for Sayres Briddelt is
often inaccurately listed as a Haupt truss.

Other Framing Detalils
Bath Bridge is unusually wide inside, measuring 2Qf this, about 18’ is the roadway,
and about 4’ is a separate raised sidewalk platfmmrthe upstream side. It is impossible

to tell whether the bridge had this feature asioaldy built.

The floor beams measure about 7¥2” x 15%” but at@nginal. There are two per
panel, and as the panel spacing is only abouhd’flbor beams are numerous.

Like other New Hampshire covered bridges, Bath gilas been modified over the
years, especially during the early twentieth centur

Repair Record

" Sayres Bridge also has an extra post at the ¢avitich Bath Bridge does not have. Some belieaé th
the former Pattersonville Bridge of Norwich, Vermowas a third example of this regional style, ibut
seems instead to have been a true Haupt trusshas@ later structure.



BATH BRIDGE
HAER No. NH-34
(Page 19)

In 1852, the White Mountain Railroad was gradedhglthe west bank of Ammonoosuc
River underneath Bath Bridge. Rails were laid, sexvice began in 1853 Apparently

the bridge required no structural modificationghat time, but since steam engines passed
closely under it for about a century, it is fortteéhat it never caught fire. At some
unknown time, the railroad installed sheet metalaurthe bridge in the area of the tracks
to prevent sparks from lodgirig.

The addition of a third pier divided the long weptin of Bath Bridge into two, making it
a four-span bridge. There is no evidence documenthen this was done, but it was
probably during the nineteenth century since the pier is dry-laid stone and difficult to
distinguish from the two originals. Had the pieeh added when the laminated arches
were installed in 1918-19, it would surely haverbeéconcrete.

By a 1913 act of the New Hampshire legislaturejdes were to be made safe for 10-ton
loads after April 1, 1915’ The law created a tremendous burden for smalhspand
compliance was slow. Bath Bridge at the time wastqd for 2 tons. Concerned, the
town asked famed bridge engineer John W. Stor@oofcord for an opinion. He said
that the bridge had probably carried more tham2 tmt recommended that the posted
load not be exceeded.

At a 1918 town meeting, Bath voted funds “for egtdhnary repairs on Bath bridge.” It
was suggested to raise $1,000 by taxation anddetre rest. Mr. C. C. Battey,
recommended by engineer Storrs, presented an éstaoaering various options. Later,
when the work was done, he inspected it, butuhicdlear how much he did himself, if
any.

By 1919, the bridge straightening project had §3s076.61. This was more than
foreseen, but more work had been required. Amaherdhings, the railroad decided
that the bridge should be raised 2’ higher oveltitheks and paid for the actual raising,
but various expenses such as regrading the roatbHaelcovered by the town.

Work got underway in 1918 when Cyrus Batcheldeaiegl a flood-damaged pier and
cut skewbacks into the old piers and abutmentedeive laminated arches. The
stonework also received concrete caps so thatritigebcould be raised. Some 70,000
board feet of lumber of all kinds went into thejpod. The arch planks appear to have
been hemlock. Much red and yellow pine was usexhgbly for the floor system.

Twelve or thirteen leaf laminated arches went thoeasterly three spans, but the west
span, over the railroad tracks, did not get a n@h.aAt some point, wooden horses
were added to either side of the tracks; thesehmag been part of the same project in

8 Sutherland, p. 74.

° Richard G. MarshallNew Hampshire Covered Bridges: A Link with our R&sincord: New Hampshire
Department of Transportation, 1994), p. 53.

19 Annual Report of the Town Officek915, p. 25. Information in the following paraghs comes from
the same source for 1918 and 1919.



BATH BRIDGE
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lieu of arches. The new arches were connectedddla beams under the lower chords
of the truss by means of hanger roads on spacingngafrom 8’-0” to 8’-6”. The new
arches and needle beams relieved some of theroadtie trusses, but there is no direct
connection to the floor system, as is usually ddne.

Photographs dating as late as ca. 1950 show thepadal of Bath Bridge with a
semielliptical arched entry, housed in narrow ctagolds, similar to portals found on
Peter Paddleford’s bridges. Soon thereafter they @as squared off higher to allow
more clearance, and the older configuration hasmiesen restored. The east portal was
so modified decades earlier.

Milton S. Graton

By 1987, Bath Bridge was in need of major repairg] the job went to Milton S. Graton
of Ashland, New Hampshire, one of the premier k#idgights of the twentieth
century*? There was a low interior boarding like a wainsedijch Graton removed. He
found many posts badly gnawed, and several wensathall the way through. Local
legend stated that residents had once used thgehaigla stable to tie up their horses
while uphill at the village church or at saloonsddhe restless horses had chewed the
posts. This practice may have been very old,Herli834 town meeting entrusted the
agent who enforced the speed limit with keepinghti@ge clear from “horses or cattle or
anything else which shall have a tendency to injiespeople who may cros§’”
Graton’s preferred practice was to leave originahtbers in place, sistering new ones
alongside to preserve the historic fabric.

The interior wainscot was perhaps intended to preftgure horse damage, but this
danger was long past and Graton did not replackater the town reinstalled it, although
this makes it impossible to inspect and clean atdbe lower chords. Covered bridges
always collect dust, which, by retaining moistwan cause rot. Old town records
throughout New England show small expenditure®foing maintenance, including
cleaning and sweeping, but in recent decades mwasisthave neglected this important
detail.

Graton completed restoration in early 1988. Otherk included reinforcing the arch
ends where they are tied to the truss, and rergdfie bridge. Much rot had to be
repaired over the former railroad tracks wheresiark-arresting layer of sheet metal
trapped moisture.

1 Some of the laminated arches have extra leavesraeptly added at a later date. It is not knowenvh
this was done, but it was not part of the Gratatomtion of 1987-88.

12 Graton is pronounced with a long “a.” Information the restoration comes from David W. Wright of
Westminster, Vermont, president of the Nationali&ydor the Preservation of Covered Bridges. He
visited Bath regularly while the work was in progge

13 Jonathan Smith was agent in 1834. The positiemseo have been that of a special constable.
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Bath Bridge today is in generally good condition @arries a moderate load of local
traffic. There is a small sag in the second spam fthe west, the cause of which should
be investigated.

Bath Village

Old accounts refer to Bath “Lower Village” and “UppVillage.” Downtown Bath, with
the covered bridge, is the Lower Village. The Upyilage today is a lovely collection
of late Federal homes, located about a mile aralfanbrth of downtown. There is no
church or store.

In addition to the famous covered bridge, Bath “leowillage” includes a church with

an unusual shingled steeple that usually appeack Ioh photographs and an old brick
general store. There were sawmills and gristreilisn before the construction of the first
bridge, and a darff. Early in the nineteenth century, the village alaw the activity of

an iron forge, and probably also a woolen milletad dye house.

In 1872, Conant and Company built a pulp mill jdstvnstream from the covered bridge.
This later became the Bath Lumber Company sawr@illshman-Rankin Company built
a leather board mill on the site, which a fire d@gd in 1952. In 1953, Bath Fiber
Company built a heeling board mill. A fire desteadythis in 1975 after the bridge sat
vacant for some tim&. The power dam is still intact just downstreannfrthe covered
bridge and makes for a spectacular view.

Bath Bridge was the last covered bridge in Northetioa to span railroad track®.The
tracks themselves are gone, but the roadbed repzamgy with a telltale north of the
bridge!” On the old roadbed nearby is an old Boston & Maiaboose converted to a
residence. The blue enamel sign saying BATH orptré&al of the bridge is probably of
railroad origin. With some imagination, it is Epbssible to see Bath as a small
industrial village served by the White Mountain IRzad, with a magnificent covered
bridge at its heart.

4 Historical Notes of Bath, New Hampshire, 1765-19B&th: Town Bicentennial Committee, 1965), pp. 5
ff.

*Christine Schultz, “The Price of History in New Hpshire,”YankegDecember 2001), pp. 34-38.
Thanks to Sarah Dangelas for bringing this sowaay attention.

18 Of course, it mainly served to cross Ammonoosu@Ri There were several covered bridges builtgole
to cross railroad tracks. Notable examples stadthat Deerfield, Massachusetts; Troy, New Yorld an
Allentown, Washington.

7 A telltale is a row of strips hanging from a frameer the railroad track, intended to warn a brakeion
top of a car of the approach of a low bridge ontlrentry.
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